
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Boyd

AGENDA November 02, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Boyd

Presentation Commissioner Sabrena Smedley will honor Janice Robertson with a Certificate of Appreciation
for the Snack Pack program.

Minutes Recessed Meeting - October 12, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - October 12, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - October 19, 2016

Report Trustee Monthly Report September 2016

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report September 2016

Report Juvenile Court Clerk's Report July and August 2016

Res. No. 1116-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, and oaths of Deputy Sheriffs.

Res. No. 1116-2 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to increase the contract with Thomas Brothers
Construction Company, Inc. for the intersection improvements at East Brainerd Road (SR-320)
and Ooltewah Ringgold Road (SR-321) for an amount not to exceed $124,618.54.

Res. No. 1116-3 A Resolution to make certain findings relating to the ECG Chestnut, LP. project, to delegate
certain authority to the Health, Education and Housing Facility Board of the City of Chattanooga,
Tennessee, and to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement for
payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes.

Res. No. 1116-4 Resolution Number Not Used

Res. No. 1116-5 A Resolution accepting a State of Tennessee, Governor’s Highway Safety Office grant for the
“remove intoxicated and impaired drivers” project with a term ending September 30, 2017 and
amending the Sheriff’s Office operating budget by adding $76,000 to revenues and
expenditures.

Res. No. 1116-6 A Resolution accepting a U.S. Department of Justice grant and to amend the Sheriff’s operating
budget by increasing revenues and expenditures by $17,450.  pursuant to the grant terms, the
funds may be used for correction purposes only.

Res. No. 1116-7 A Resolution to accept a donation of canine equipment and associated supplies and training
from the Chattanooga Dog Agility Club to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office valued at
approximately $4,896 for law enforcement purposes.

Res. No. 1116-8 A Resolution to accept a donation of a 40MM Single Shot Launcher with an estimated retail
value of $975 from the Amtech Less-Lethal systems to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office.

Res. No. 1116-9 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to amend the 2016 - 2017 budget for the Justice for
Families Grant, from the Office on Violence Against Women (OVW).  The two year grant in the
amount of $250,000.00 with the grant period of April 1, 2015 to March 31, 2017 has a remaining
balance of $64,370.00  The FY2017 budgeted amount of $125,000.00 for revenues and
expenditures should be reduced to $64,370.00 to reflect the current funds available for FY2017.

Res. No. 1116-10 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a contract  with the Tennessee Department of Health in the amount of $492,400.00 to
provide sexually transmitted disease and HIV education, prevention and control services  in
Hamilton County,  for a time period of January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017.



Res. No. 1116-11 A Resolution accepting the bids of Brozelco Inc., Shields Electronics Supply, Inc., and Tessco
Incorporated for a one (1) year contract unit pricing, beginning November 3, 2016, through
November 2, 2017, with the option to renew for six (6) additional months, for communications
cable for the Telecommunications Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-12 A Resolution accepting the bids of DataComm Cabling, LLC, Integrated Networking
Technologies, LLC, and Pearlnet LLC, for a one (1) year contract unit pricing, beginning
November 3, 2016, through November 2, 2017, for hourly labor rates for a Telecommunications
Technician for the Telecommunications Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-13 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of September 1,
2016, through September 30, 2016, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 12, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 12th day of October, 2016, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Smedley, and 

Chairman Bankston. Commissioner Boyd and Commissioner Mackey were absent. 

Total present – 6.  Total absent -2. 

 

 Chairman Bankston reported that Commissioner Boyd and Commissioner 

Mackey would be absent for today’s Recessed Meeting and Agenda Session.  

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor and interim County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall. 

. 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 

2 
 

 Commissioner Bankston introduced Pastor Chris Peponis, Fellowship Baptist 

Church, who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Bankston led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

LATE ITEM 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-34 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

UP TO TWENTY FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY EXPENSE FUNDS AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SIX TO 

PURCHASE PAINT MATERIALS FOR THE LOOKOUT VALLEY RECREATION 

CENTER. 

 

 Commissioner Graham reported that parents and volunteers at the Lookout 

Valley Recreation Center recently brought to his attention the need for paint materials to 

assist in preparing the center for next season. It was noted that the recreation center will 

be closed and winterized in the next two weeks. He explained that he has unused funds 

in his discretionary expense funds account for the purchase.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-34. The foregoing Motion was rejected on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye. Commissioner Boyd and Commissioner 

Mackey were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 4.  Total 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 

3 
 

“Nay” votes – 0. Commissioner Fairbanks and Chairman Bankston announced that they 

were present.  

 

The motion failed to receive the required votes per Tennessee Code Annotated 

5-5-109. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 12, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 12th day of October, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Smedley, and 

Chairman Bankston. Commissioner Boyd and Commissioner Mackey were absent. 

Total present - 6.  Total absent – 2. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported in the Recess Meeting that Commissioner Boyd 

and Commissioner Mackey would be absent for today’s Recessed Meeting and Agenda 

Session.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 2 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor and interim County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall. 

 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

• Unaudited Financial Reports from Circuit Court Clerk, Clerk and Master, County 
Clerk and Register for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 would be submitted 
as a matter of record. 

• An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

• Resolution No. 1016-11 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

• Resolution Nos.1016-11 through 1016-33 were heard by a Committee of the 
Whole. 

 
 

Chairman Bankston stated that because several Commissioners were absent for 

today’s meeting, all items on the agenda would now be heard by a Committee of the 

Whole.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 3 

 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-12 

 

 This Resolution reappoints Chairman Chester Bankston, Commissioner Warren 

Mackey, and Commissioner Jim Fields to the Hamilton County Audit Committee for a 

term ending October 19, 2017.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-13 

 

 This Resolution appoints Commissioner Sabrena Smedley as an associate 

member to the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals to fill the unexpired term of 

created by Commissioner Marty Haynes being elected Assessor of Property.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-14 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 4 

This Resolution reappoints Patricia M. McKoy to the Chattanooga Area Regional 

Transportation Authority (CARTA) Board of Directors for a term ending October 19, 

2021. 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-15 

 

 Commissioner Graham spoke regarding this item, which accepts the bid of Ross 

Glass & Aluminum, LLC for $32,275.00 from District 6 general fund discretionary 

monies for the purchase of replacement windows at the John A. Patton Recreation 

Center. He explained that the recreation center is used by many people, and 

renovations are taking place to improve the building for the community. It was noted that 

this item will allow insulated windows to be installed in several rooms of the center.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Commissioner Graham stated 

that the funds will come from general fund discretionary monies that he has had for 

many years. He clarified that he would never bring a purchase for District 6 before the 

Commission that could cause a tax increase.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-16 

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 5 

 This Resolution approves an appropriation to Hamilton County Coalition in the 

amount of $10,000.00 from general fund discretionary monies and travel discretionary 

monies, as allotted to District 4. It was noted that the funds will assist the nonprofit with 

their Youth Empowerment Society project.   

 

 Commissioner Bankston stated the item will be discussed at next week’s Regular 

Meeting. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-17 

  

Sheriff Hammond spoke regarding this item, which accepts a community oriented 

policing services (COPS) hiring program grant of up to $750,000.00 from the United 

States Department of Justice, which would designate six additional school resource 

officers for various schools in Hamilton County for the next four years. He explained that 

the Sheriff’s Office has been working for many years to provide school resource officers 

in schools across Hamilton County, with middle and high schools being first priority. It 

was  noted that this is the second time the Department of Justice has awarded the 

COPS grant to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, which is highly irregular. Sheriff 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 6 

Hammond added that a safety assessment was performed in schools to determine 

which six would receive the additional officers.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields’ question, Sheriff Hammond reported that 

the total cost to the County including equipment would be $1,137,400.00 to be spread 

out over 4 years.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Sheriff Hammond explained 

that receiving this grant twice is a rare occurrence. He added that when he first took 

office as Sheriff, a top priority was to become CALEA certified, which is the highest 

recognition in the United States for a police agency. It was noted that Hamilton County 

is one of five Sheriff’s Departments in Tennessee with CALEA accreditation. He stated 

that CALEA sets close to 500 standards for police agencies and requires “white glove” 

inspections of all the departments’ policies and procedures. Sheriff Hammond explained 

the many benefits of being CALEA accredited, including applying for grants such as the 

COPS grant.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked Sheriff Hammond for his hard work and 

diligence.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 7 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-18 
 

This Resolution authorizes the design, equipment purchase, installation, and 

testing of a Motorola bi-directional amplifier system for Middle Valley Elementary School 

amounting to $126,742.00 from Motorola Solutions, Inc. on the state contract.  

 

Further conversation regarding this item took place after the discussion of 

Resolution No. 1016-19.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-19 

  

 Hamilton County Risk Management Manager Bill Stoll spoke regarding this item, 

which increases the claims and litigation settlement authority of the Human Resources 

Risk Management Office and the County Attorney’s Office from $15,000.00 per claim to 

$25,000.00 per claim. He stated that the increase will allow for more efficient disposition 

of claims and lawsuits relative to the increase in costs for property damage and bodily 

injury that has occurred since the last adjustment 13 years ago per Resolution No. 403-

30. It was noted that this will equal the current authority level for both the State of 

Tennessee and the City of Chattanooga.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 8 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s questions, Mr. Stoll stated that protocol 

would be followed in order to keep the Commission informed about settlements.   

 

 At this time, Commissioner Graham asked for further clarification regarding 

Resolution No. 1016-18. Hamilton County Department of Education Director of 

Maintenance and Operations Justin Witt explained that during the final inspection 

process of the new Middle Valley Elementary School, the Fire Marshal and first 

responders noticed that radio service was lost upon entering the building. He stated that 

the Motorola amplifier system will enable emergency services radios to operate 

effectively inside of the school. It was noted that the original purchase order will be 

reduced in the amount of $126,742.00 from the project allowance to fund this purchase 

and no new funding is required.  

 

 Commissioner Graham thanked Mr. Witt for his diligence in completing the 

project within budget. He added that this equipment was very important to allow first 

responders to communicate.  

 

 Mayor Coppinger congratulated Mr. Witt on the Middle Valley Elementary School 

project. He also thanked the architect and general contractor for their hard work in 

making sure the building was ready for the first day of school. He added that the 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 9 

dedication ceremony at Middle Valley Elementary School will take place Tuesday 

morning at 9:00 AM.    

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-20 

 

 Hamilton County Risk Management Manager Bill Stoll spoke regarding this item, 

which accepts the proposal of Aon Risk Services South, Inc. to provide property and 

casualty brokerage and consultant services for the County’s Risk Management Office. 

He explained that currently the Risk Management Office markets commercial insurance 

coverage through the market assignment process, which involves the two-step process 

of seeking qualified brokers and agents and their preferred markets, and randomly 

assigning those markets to individual brokers who then obtain coverage quotes.  

 

The new process is the selected broker/consultant process, which allows brokers 

to fully leverage all of the markets to which they have access based on their 

marketplace size/volume, relationships and experience. He noted that the 

broker/consultant process is a simplified process, less time consuming for staff, and will 

provide for a quicker turnaround on proposals. He added that the proposal from Aon 

Risk Services South Inc. provides greater resources with a larger market presence, 

which will yield a higher level of service and support in the future.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 10 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Stoll reported that Aon 

also handles the County’s actuarial work. He added that they have a large public entity 

presence.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-21 

 

 Director of General Services Lee Norris spoke regarding this item, which amends 

the rules, regulations, and rates as pertain to the Hamilton County Parks and 

Recreation Department. He noted that the two biggest policy changes allow pets on 

leashes within the parks as well as the allowance of firearms within parks in compliance 

with state law. He noted that there were also several changes regarding park rates.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-22 

 

 This Resolution authorizes the payment of $25,000.00 plus incurred verified 

medical expenses in settlement of claims against Hamilton County and several Sheriff’s 

Office deputies as brought by Nancy Lee Mason.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 11 

 At this time, Chairman Bankston asked if there was any opposition present 

regarding the Zoning items on the agenda. There was none.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-23 

 

 This Resolution grants the abandonment of two portions of the 1000 block of 

Little Sorrel Road.  

 

 Further explanation of Resolution No. 1016-23 took place after discussion of 

Resolution No. 1016-24.   

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-24 

 

 Regional Planning Agency Executive Director John Bridger spoke regarding this 

item, which grants a Special Exceptions Permit to amend the boundary of an existing 

residential planned unit development of properties located at 8269 and 8311 Balata 

Drive. He explained that the current boundary cuts across two parcels of property, 

splitting them into thirds. This item will shift the boundary so that the entire parcel is 

included. He added that there was no opposition.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 12 

 In response to Commissioner Fields’ question, Mr. Bridger explained that 

Resolution No. 1016-23 will abandon a portion of a right away in the Stonewall Farms 

neighborhood in Hixson. He added that there was no opposition and the Planning 

Commission and staff recommended approval.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-25A AND 1016-25B 

 

 Commissioner Smedley spoke regarding these items, which rezones property 

located at 2016 Ooltewah Ringgold Road from R-1 Residential District to R-T/Z 

Residential Townhouse/Zero Lot Line District. She noted that Resolution No. 1016-25B 

contained conditions as recommended by the Planning Commission. She asked that an 

amendment be considered to add the verbiage “detached” single-family homes to 

number five of the conditions listed in Resolution No. 1016-25B.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, it was noted that the verbiage 

will be amended to add the word “detached” and the Resolution will be renumbered 

1016-25C.   

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-26 

 

 At this point Commissioner Smedley left the meeting. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 13 

 Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer Todd Leamon spoke 

regarding this item, which amends the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” so as to 

accept Eaglemont Drive and Eagle Nest Lane as district roads and establish speed 

limits therefore. He stated that roads are in the new Eagle Bluff Woods Subdivision in 

Harrison. He added that all standard procedures were followed.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-27 

 

  Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer Todd Leamon spoke 

regarding this item, which accepts the bid of Don Ledford Automotive Center Inc. for 

three heavy-duty vans amounting to $74,925.00 for the Maintenance Department. He 

explained that the Maintenance Department has 14 total vans and budgeted this year to 

replace three of them.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-28 

 

 Health Department Director Becky Barnes spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the bids of AVM Enterprises, Inc., Kelsan Inc., Pyramid School Products, 

Rose’s Delight, Inc., and The Stockroom Supply for contract unit pricing beginning 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 14 

November 7, 2016 through November 6, 2017 for maintenance supplies for the 

Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-29 

 

 Health Department Director Becky Barnes spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the bids of Atlantic Medical Solutions, Jacobs Paper Company, and Products 

Unlimited Inc. for contract unit pricing beginning November 7, 2016 through November 

6, 2017 for infection control supplies for the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health 

Department. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-30 

 

 Health Department Director Becky Barnes spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the bids of Atlantic Medical Solutions, Concordance Healthcare Solutions, 

Masimo Americas, Inc., and Products Unlimited Inc. for contract unit pricing beginning 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 15 

November 7, 2016 through November 6, 2017 for laboratory supplies for the 

Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-31 

 

 Health Department Director Becky Barnes spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the bids of Metro Industrial Services, Quill Corporation, School Specialty Inc., 

and The Office Pal for contract unit pricing beginning November 7, 2016 through 

November 6, 2017 for general office supplies for the Chattanooga/Hamilton County 

Health Department. 

 

 Commissioner Graham clarified that Resolution Nos. 1016-27 through 1016-32 

were all standard procedure contract pricing, and were all vetted by the Purchasing 

Department.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-32 

 

 Health Department Director Becky Barnes spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the bids of Roll-Aid Industrial, School Specialty Inc., and Veritiv Operating 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 16 

Company for contract unit pricing beginning November 7, 2016 through November 6, 

2017 for printing and paper supplies for the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health 

Department. 

 

 Commissioner Graham disclosed in accordance with ethics guidelines that he 

has done work with and for Roll-Aid Industrial in the past.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1016-33 

 

 Don Gorman, Director of Administration for the Sheriff’s Department, spoke 

regarding this item, which accepts a State of Tennessee, Governor’s Highway Safety 

Office Grant for the “Safe Journey” project with a term ending September 30, 2017, and 

amend the Sheriff’s Office budget by adding $125,000 to revenues and expenditures. It 

was noted that this was an annual no match grant. The funds will be used to educate 

the community on child passenger safety and train volunteers in the state for car sear 

installation.   

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 17 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Commissioner Fields spoke about the large brush fire that is continuing to burn 

on Roberts Mill Road on Walden’s Ridge and Signal Mountain. He thanked all Hamilton 

County volunteer fire departments for their hard work.  

 

Commissioner Graham also thanked all the volunteer fire departments for their 

hard work in trying to contain the fires. He also reported that the Lookout Valley Lions 

Club Car Show will be taking place Saturday to raise funds for food and toys for children 

at Christmas time.  

 

Commissioner Graham announced that a large number of volunteers planned to 

meet at the recreation center in Lookout Valley on Saturday to finish cleaning and 

painting. He stated that the project will be cancelled due to the Commission not 

approving his special funding request for supplies in today’s recessed meeting.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 18 

Attorney Taylor reported that the terms of two judicial commissioners, Ron 

Powers and Nathaniel Goggans, would be expiring at the end of October. He stated that 

he would prepare a Resolution to bring before the Commission next week.  

 

Mayor Coppinger reminded members of the Commission of the dedication 

ceremony at Middle Valley Elementary School Tuesday at 9:00 AM. He also expressed 

his appreciation for what the volunteer fire departments are doing to contain the fires on 

Roberts Mill Road. He stated that the County pays $5,000 each year to the Forestry 

Service, who has been providing airdrops via helicopters to help contain the fires. It was 

noted that typically that assistance would cost around $9,000 per hour.    

 

County Clerk Bill Knowles reported that the late item introduced by 

Commissioner Graham during the Recessed Meeting will be identified as Resolution 

No. 1016-34.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Chairman Bankston stated that 

the standard protocol for nominating judicial commissioners will be followed.  

 

Chairman Bankston also thanked the volunteer fire departments for their hard 

work in containing the brush fire on Roberts Mill Road.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 12, 2016 
 
 

 19 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, October 19th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 19, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 19th day of October, 2016, a Regular Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Total present 

– 8. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and interim County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall.  

. 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

2 

 

Commissioner Bankston introduced Pastor Brent Baughman, Stanley Heights 

Baptist Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Bankston led in the pledge to 

the flag.  

 

PRESENTATION – TENNESSEE VALLEY FEDERAL CREDIT UNION 

 

 Todd Fortner, President and CEO of Tennessee Valley Federal Credit Union 

(TVFCU), spoke about the credit union, whose headquarters are in Chattanooga. TVFC 

is a member owned, not-for-profit financial institution with $1.2 billion in assets and 

124,000 members, three fourths of which are located in Hamilton County. It was noted 

that TVFCU is the largest credit union in the area. He stated that TVFCU has a long 

relationship with Hamilton County employees. Mr. Fortner introduced Community 

Relations Manager Tammy Zumbrun, Business Development Manager Karen Hannifin, 

President of the Tennessee Credit Union League Fred Robinson, and Treasurer of the 

Board of Directors Albert Kiser. He added that Mr. Kiser has been an important 

volunteer for the credit union for many years.  

 

 Mr. Fortner stated that Thursday, October 20th is International Credit Union Day, 

which celebrates the work credit unions do to improve the financial lives of communities. 

He read a proclamation issued by Governor Bill Haslam that highlighted the importance 

of credit unions and their dedication to the communities they serve. The proclamation 

declared October 20th Credit Union Day in Tennessee.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

3 

 

 Mayor Coppinger, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Fairbanks, and 

Commissioner Graham thanked Mr. Fortner for his presentation and for the dedicated 

service TVFCU provides to the community, and to County employees.   

 

 Commissioner Graham reported that he supported Ms. Zumbrun when she ran 

for the District 3 School Board seat in 2012.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of September 28, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of September 28, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of October 5, 2016, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

4 

 

UNAUDITED FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 

  Unaudited financial reports for the following constitutional officers were 

submitted as a matter of record: 

 

Circuit Court Clerk – year ending June 30, 2016 
Clerk & Master – year ending June 30, 2016  
County Clerk – year ending June 30, 2016  
Register of Deeds – year ending June 30, 2016  

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

 An Order was recorded designating Todd Leamon to sit as the County Mayor’s 

representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting of October 10, 2016. 

  

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-11 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND THE OATHS OF DEPUTY COUNTY 

CLERKS.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-11. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

5 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-12 A RESOLUTION TO REAPPOINT MEMBERS TO THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY AUDIT COMMITTEE.  

 

 This Resolution reappoints Chairman Chester Bankston, Commissioner Warren 

Mackey, and Commissioner Jim Fields for a term ending October 19, 2017.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1016-12. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted 

on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being 

present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

6 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-13 A RESOLUTION APPOINTING COMMISSIONER 

SABRENA SMEDLEY AS AN ASSOCIATE MEMBER TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS.  

 

 This Resolution appoints Commissioner Smedley to fill the unexpired term 

created by the absence of Commissioner Marty Haynes, who was elected Assessor of 

Property. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-13. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-14 A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT 

BY THE COUNTY MAYOR OF ONE MEMBER TO THE CHATTANOOGA AREA 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (CARTA) BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FOR A TERM ENDING OCTOBER 19, 2021.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

7 

 

This Resolution reappoints Patricia M. McKoy.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-14. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-15 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ROSS 

GLASS & ALUMINUM, LLC, FOR $32,275.00, FOR REPLACEMENT WINDOWS AT 

THE JOHN A. PATTON RECREATION CENTER AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-15.  

 

Commissioner Mackey reported that his absence at last week’s recessed 

meeting and agenda session was due to his attendance at a conference in Nashville 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

8 

 

where he was representing Hamilton County. He stated while he planned to support this 

item, he was confused by Commissioner Graham’s use of discretionary funds after 

returning his portion back to the general fund last year.   

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Chairman Bankston reported that 

the John A. Patton Recreation Center is owned by the City of Chattanooga.  

 

Commissioner Boyd questioned why the County would allocate discretionary 

funds towards a building owned by the City of Chattanooga. He referenced an instance 

in which he was approached by the Missionary Ridge Neighborhood Association to 

allocate $12,000 of discretionary money towards repairs of a building used as a polling 

location/meeting room. He denied the request because the building is owned by the City 

of Chattanooga and encouraged the association to contact their City Councilman for the 

funding. He agreed with Commissioner Mackey’s comments about Commissioner 

Graham requesting to use discretionary monies after being critical of them in the past.   

 

Commissioner Graham asked to speak last in order to address any questions or 

comments other Commissioners might have.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks stated that he was approached by several media 

sources to answer why he chose to vote “present” on the item Commissioner Graham 

brought before the Commission at last week’s Recessed Meeting, which sought to 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

9 

 

allocate up to $2,500.00 in general fund discretionary expense funds to purchase paint 

materials for the Lookout Valley Recreation Center (Resolution No. 1016-34).  

Commissioner Fairbanks estimated that Commissioner Graham has voted “present” 

many times on Resolutions involving discretionary spending, and he questioned why the 

media has not investigated those votes. The media representative had indicated they 

were not contacted on those previous instances as they were by Commissioner Graham 

last week. He read from a list of ten Commission approved projects for District 1 

involving the use of discretionary monies. It was noted that Commissioner Graham 

voted “present” on each of the projects.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks explained that residents of District 1 have questioned 

why Commissioner Graham did not support those ten projects, and that he would not be 

supporting Resolution No. 1016-15 today. He reported that he has never contacted the 

media or held a press conference when a project that he brings before the Commission 

fails to receive the required votes. He spoke at length about two instances that 

Commissioner Graham held public press conferences when a vote did not go his way.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks echoed a statement made to him by Mayor Coppinger 

in which he emphasized that companies considering developing in Chattanooga watch 

the way the Commission conducts business. He added that when Commissioners have 

an issue with each other, they should be able to work it out behind the scenes rather 

than in the public eye.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

10 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks stated that a media representative contacted him and 

asked if the Commission was going to recall the Chairman. He accused Commissioner 

Graham of being behind the recall rumor as well as a news article in which his wife was 

verbally attacked.  

 

Commissioner Smedley noted that in the same news article, Commissioner 

Fairbanks was referred to as a bully.  She stated that she has had conversations with 

several former Commissioners, and each indicated that it is unprecedented for a 

Commissioner to contact the media when a vote does not go their way. She expressed 

that she has gone above and beyond the call of duty to be accountable and transparent 

in her service to District 7, and accused Commissioner Graham of attacking fellow 

Commissioners through news articles and social media for personal gain.  

 

Commissioner Smedley reminded Commissioners that the funds for these 

projects come from taxpayers, and it is important to be fiscally responsible. She 

disagreed with the use of strong rhetoric when there is disagreement over expenditures.  

 

Commissioner Beck encouraged Commissioners to get along. He stated that this 

was the first time a Chairman has allowed Commission members to publicly criticize 

another Commissioner during a meeting. He called the situation embarrassing and 

encouraged Chairman Bankston to intervene.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

11 

 

In response to Chairman Bankston’s question, Attorney Taylor clarified that the 

Commission Chairman has the authority to stop criticism among Commissioners.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks responded to Commissioner Beck’s comments. He 

stated that it is unprecedented for a Commissioner to criticize others in the media. 

Commissioner Beck responded that what others say is not important and should not 

interfere with County business.  

 

Commissioner Fields stated that the only issues before the Commission today 

are whether Commissioner Graham has the money to fund Resolution No. 1016-15 in 

his account, and whether it is an appropriate use of the funds. He expressed his support 

for the Resolution.  

 

Commissioner Graham responded to the comments made today by fellow 

Commissioners. Commissioner Graham recalled the actions that took place when the 

FY15 budget, Resolution No. 615-35, was presented to the Commission on June 17, 

2015. The resolution was amended to add $900,000 to the County Commission’s 

budget for discretionary funding. The funds were taken out of the general fund balance, 

or rainy day fund, and divided equally between all nine districts. Commissioner Graham 

noted that he voted against the amendment. On June 22, 2015, Mayor Coppinger 

vetoed the amended resolution. Commissioner Graham supported the Mayor’s veto. On 

June 24, 2015 the commission voted to override the County Mayor’s veto and the 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

12 

 

resolution was adopted as amended and renumbered 615-35A. The $900,000 was 

added to the County Commission’s budget. He explained that the projects in which he 

has voted “present” have been projects that used discretionary monies from the vetoed 

budget Resolution. He further clarified that in prior meetings he would get up and leave 

the room when voting took place, and Commissioner Fairbanks requested that he not 

do that.  

 

Commissioner Graham stated that the discretionary monies he is requesting to 

use for the window project is money that he has had for many years, that has been 

previously approved and previously budgeted. It was noted that Commissioner Graham 

has used his expense account money as discretionary money as well. He stated that 

the City of Chattanooga and the Lookout Valley Neighborhood Association allocated 

funds towards making repairs at the Recreation Center, and the window project was the 

County’s portion of repairs.   

 

Commissioner Graham clarified that he has not gone to media or called any 

fellow Commissioners names, but has held press conferences at the urging of his 

constituents in order to do the public’s business publicly. He stated that he cannot 

control what is being said in the newspapers. At this time, Commissioner Graham called 

for the vote on Resolution No. 1016-15.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

13 

 

The foregoing Motion to adopt the resolution failed on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Nay”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Nay”, and Chairman Bankston, “Nay”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 4.  Total “Nay” votes – 3. Commissioner Fairbanks announced that he was 

present.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-16 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

HAMILTON COUNTY COALITION IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES AND TRAVEL 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-16. 

 

Commissioner Graham stated that he would be supporting Resolution No. 1016-

16 as the bulk of the expenditure was coming from Commissioner Mackey’s expense 

account.   

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

14 

 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-17 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A COMMUNITY 

ORIENTED POLICING SERVICES (COPS) HIRING PROGRAM GRANT OF UP TO 

$750,000 FROM THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE WHICH 

WOULD DESIGNATE SIX (6) ADDITIONAL SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICERS FOR 

VARIOUS SCHOOLS IN HAMILTON COUNTY FOR THE NEXT FOUR YEARS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-17.  

 

Commissioner Mackey asked for more information regarding this item.   

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Sheriff Hammond reported that 

there would be a County match for the next four years if this item were to be approved.  

 

Director of Support Services for the Sheriff’s Department Geno Bennett further 

clarified that the County match would be $1,137,400 for six School Resource Officers in 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

15 

 

County schools for four years, including equipment and vehicles. It was noted that the 

County match will be coming from the County general fund over the next four years.  

 

Mayor Coppinger explained that as with most grants, a budget amendment will 

be required if this item is adopted.  

 

Finance Administrator Al Kiser further clarified that the Resolution states that it 

will amend the expense budget for about six months. He reported that it would be a 

challenge at the end of the year, but the Finance Department is hoping for enough 

revenue growth to cover the expense.  

 

In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Sheriff Hammond stated that a 

study was performed to determine which schools most needed the School Resource 

Officers. He stated that the Sheriff’s Department was not quite ready to release the list 

of schools. He explained that the Sheriff’s Office has been working for many years to 

provide school resource officers in all schools across Hamilton County, with middle and 

high schools being first priority. 

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Sheriff Hammond explained 

that receiving this grant twice is a rare occurrence. Commissioner Graham thanked 

Sheriff Hammond for his hard work and diligence.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

16 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks noted that while he was concerned about this type of 

high dollar grant, he would be supporting this item. 

 

Commissioner Smedley stated that keeping schools safe is a top priority. In 

response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Sheriff Hammond reported that his 

office would be prepared to release the list of schools next week.   

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Sheriff Hammond and his staff for seeking out these 

types of grants. He reported that the Sheriff’s Department and the Finance Department 

spend a lot of time working together to make sure they can finance grants of this nature.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-18 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE DESIGN, 

EQUIPMENT PURCHASE, INSTALLATION AND TESTING OF A MOTOROLA BI-

DIRECTIONAL AMPLIFIER SYSTEM FOR MIDDLE VALLEY ELEMENTARY 

SCHOOL AMOUNTING TO $126,742.00 FROM MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS, INC. ON 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

17 

 

THE STATE CONTRACT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-18. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-19 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE AN INCREASE IN 

CLAIMS/LITIGATION SETTLEMENT AUTHORITY BY THE RISK MANAGEMENT 

OFFICE AND THE COUNTY ATTORNEY OFFICE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-19. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

18 

 

stepped was not present for the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-20 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF AON 

RISK SERVICES SOUTH, INC., TO PROVIDE PROPERTY AND CASUALTY 

BROKERAGE AND CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR THE COUNTY'S RISK 

MANAGEMENT OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-20. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck 

stepped was not present for the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-21 A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE RULES, 

REGULATIONS, AND RATES AS PERTAIN TO THE OPERATION OF THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

19 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-21. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck 

was not present for the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 

7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-22 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF 

TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($25,000.00), PLUS INCURRED VERIFIED 

MEDICAL EXPENSES, IN SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST HAMILTON 

COUNTY, TENNESSEE, AND SEVERAL SHERIFF'S OFFICE DEPUTIES AS 

BROUGHT BY NANCY LEE MASON FOR INJURIES RECEIVED WHILE IN THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY JAIL ON MARCH 31, 2015. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-22. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

20 

 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any opposition present regarding the 

Zoning items on today’s agenda.  There was none.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-23 A RESOLUTION GRANTING THE ABANDONMENT OF 

TWO (2) PORTIONS OF THE 1000 BLOCK OF LITTLE SORREL ROAD. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-23. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-24 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 

PERMIT TO AMEND THE BOUNDARY OF AN EXISTING RESIDENTIAL PLANNED 

UNIT DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 8269 AND 8311 BALATA 

DRIVE. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

21 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-24. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-25A A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-1 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO R-T/Z RESIDENTIAL TOWNHOUSE/ZERO LOT LINE 

DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2016 OOLTEWAH RINGGOLD ROAD. 

  

 No action was taken on Resolution No. 1016-25A.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-25B A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-1 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO R-T/Z RESIDENTIAL TOWNHOUSE/ZERO LOT LINE 

DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2016 OOLTEWAH RINGGOLD ROAD. 

 

 No action was taken on Resolution No. 1016-25B.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

22 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-25C A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-1 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO R-T/Z RESIDENTIAL TOWNHOUSE/ZERO LOT LINE 

DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2016 OOLTEWAH RINGGOLD ROAD.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-25C. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-26 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE "MASTER LIST OF 

ROADS AND SPEED LIMITS" SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT 

ROADS AND TO ESTABLISH SPEED LIMITS THEREFORE: EAGLEMONT DRIVE 

AND EAGLE NEST LANE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-26. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

23 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-27 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DON 

LEDFORD AUTOMOTIVE CENTER, INC. FOR THREE (3) HEAVY DUTY VANS 

AMOUNTING TO $74,925.00 FOR THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-27. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

24 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-28 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF AVM 

ENTERPRISES, INC., KELSAN INC., PYRAMID SCHOOL PRODUCTS, ROSE'S 

DELIGHT, INC., AND THE STOCKROOM SUPPLY, FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, 

BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2017, FOR 

MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA I HAMILTON COUNTY 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-28. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-29 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ATLANTIC 

MEDICAL SOLUTIONS, JACOBS PAPER COMPANY, AND PRODUCTS UNLIMITED 

INC. FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2016, THROUGH 

NOVEMBER 6, 2017, FOR INFECTION CONTROL SUPPLIES FOR THE 

CHATTANOOGA I HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

25 

 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-29. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-30 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ATLANTIC 

MEDICAL SOLUTIONS, CONCORDANCE HEALTHCARE SOLUTIONS, MASIMO 

AMERICAS, INC., AND PRODUCTS UNLIMITED INC. FOR CONTRACT UNIT 

PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2017, FOR 

LABORATORY SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA I HAMILTON COUNTY 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-30. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

26 

 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-31 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF METRO 

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, QUILL CORPORATION, SCHOOL SPECIALTY, INC., AND 

THE OFFICE PAL FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 

2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2017, FOR GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR 

THE CHATTANOOGA I HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-31. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

27 

 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-32 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ROLL-AID 

INDUSTRIAL, SCHOOL SPECIALTY INC., AND VERITIV OPERATING COMPANY 

FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2016, THROUGH 

NOVEMBER 6, 2017, FOR PRINTING AND PAPER SUPPLIES FOR THE 

CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-32. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-33 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A STATE OF 

TENNESSEE, GOVERNOR'S HIGHWAY SAFETY OFFICE GRANT FOR THE "SAFE 

JOURNEY" PROJECT WITH A TERM ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 AND 

AMENDING THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE OPERATING BUDGET BY ADDING $125,000 

TO REVENUES & EXPENDITURES. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1016-33. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Mackey was not present for the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-35 A RESOLUTION RE-APPOINTING TWO (2) JUDICIAL 

COMMISSIONERS, NATHANIEL GOGGANS AND RON POWERS, FOR A ONE (1) 

YEAR TERM, COMMENCING NOVEMBER 1, 2016, AND EXPIRING OCTOBER 31, 

2017; AND ESTABLISHING THE COMPENSATION TO BE RECEIVED BY EACH 

DURING THEIR RESPECTIVE TERMS(S) IN OFFICE. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

29 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1016-35.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks stated that he spoke with the current Chief Judicial 

Commissioner, Randall Russell, and he stated that Nathaniel Goggans and Ron Powers 

were both working effectively in their positions.  

 

Commissioner Graham recommended both Nathaniel Goggans and Ron Powers 

for reappointment. He stated that the current magistrate program is working better now 

than it ever has.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Attorney Taylor clarified that the 

salary stated in the Resolution is the current salary level of both Judicial 

Commissioners.   

 

In response to Commissioner Fields’ question, Commissioner Fairbanks stated 

that Mr. Russell confirmed that both judicial commissioners were interested in 

reappointment.  

 

In response to Mayor Coppinger’s request for clarification, Human Resources 

Director Alecia Poe stated that the compensation for each judicial commissioner would 

include salary and benefits.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

30 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Mackey was not 

present for the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-36 A RESOLUTION APPOINTING TWO (2) JUDICIAL 

COMMISSIONERS, ________________ AND _________________, FOR A ONE (1) 

YEAR TERM, COMMENCING NOVEMBER 1, 2016, AND EXPIRING OCTOBER 31, 

2017; AND ESTABLISHING THE COMPENSATION TO BE RECEIVED BY EACH 

DURING THEIR RESPECTIVE TERM(S) IN OFFICE.  

 

The approved names were added to Resolution No. 1016-35. 

 

 No action was taken on resolution No. 1016-36.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-37 A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING ___________________ 

AS CHIEF JUDICIAL COMMISSIONER FOR A TERM BEGINNING NOVEMBER 1, 

2016, AND ENDING ____________________; AND ESTABLISHING THE 

COMPENSATION TO BE RECEIVED.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

31 

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks nominated Randall Russell as Chief Judicial 

Commissioner.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1016-37 inserting the name of Randall Russell. 

 

 Attorney Taylor stated that the ending term should be six months from the date of 

his appointment.  

 

 Commissioner Beck asked for clarification regarding the nomination process for 

Chief Judicial Commissioners.  In the past nominations were made and vote was taken 

on those nominations before a name was inserted into the resolution. 

 

 Commissioner Mackey requested a delay on the appointment to the Chief 

position. 

 

 Attorney Taylor clarified that the current Chief Judicial Magistrate Randall Russell 

will serve until a successor is appointed.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

delay Resolution No. 1016-37 for one week.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

32 

 

The foregoing Motion was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Mackey was not 

present for the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-38 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

UP TO TWENTY FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY EXPENSE FUNDS AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SIX TO 

PURCHASE PAINT MATERIALS FOR THE LOOKOUT VALLEY RECREATION 

CENTER.  

Commissioner Graham asked that Resolution No. 1016-38 be pulled from the 

agenda. He stated that adequate private funds were contributed from his District as well 

as from District 1.  Without objection from Commissioners, Chairman Bankston allowed 

the item to be withdrawn. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

33 

 

Commissioner Graham thanked fellow Commissioners for today’s discussion. He 

stated that he would be bringing Resolution No. 1016-15 back before the Commission 

when the District 3 Commission seat is filled. Commissioner Graham announced that 

the community raised the funds for painting materials for the Lookout Valley Recreation 

Center. He stated that volunteers will be meeting at the recreation center Saturday at 

8:00 AM to begin painting.  

 

Commissioner Boyd thanked Mayor Coppinger and fellow Commissioners for the 

funds that were allocated towards the infrastructure and road improvements in East 

Ridge. He stated the Department of Transportation announced that the Exit One 

interchange construction would be completed around this time next year. He noted that 

as a result of the County’s support, as well as the support of the elected officials in East 

Ridge, Vision Hospitality would be building a new hotel at Exit One in East Ridge.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks announced that several representatives from the 

Mowbray Volunteer Fire Department were present in the audience at today’s meeting. 

He read from an email thanking him for the purchase of the six wheeler for the fire 

department, which was useful in combating the large brush fire on Signal Mountain.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

34 

 

 
Commissioner Fairbanks also thanked Justin Witt, Director of Maintenance and 

Operations for the Hamilton County Department of Education and Middle Valley 

Elementary School Principal Allyson DeYoung for their hard work on the new 

elementary school. He indicated Ms. DeYoung was instrumental in making everyone 

from the combined schools feel welcome as a part of the newly opened school. 

 

Attorney Taylor called for a brief legal meeting following today’s meeting.  

 

Mayor Coppinger also thanked Mr. Witt, as well as the general contractor and 

architect, on their hard work in completing Middle Valley Elementary School in time for 

the school year to begin. He thanked Commissioners for approving the project and 

encouraged them to take a tour of the school.  

 

Mayor Coppinger announced that his Chief of Staff Mike Compton would be 

attending the legal meeting in his place.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 19, 2016 

 

35 

 

  

 There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, October 20, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 

      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 

 

Approved: 

   

________  

Date  Clerk’s Initials 

        

 





























No. 1116-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” have taken the oath of office. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2.  That the persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
 hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
 approved as taken; and 



 

 

 
3. That the persons named on the listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 

SHERIFFS” are accepted and the oaths therefor are approved as taken; and  
 

 4. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 











































No. 1116-2 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO INCREASE THE 
CONTRACT WITH THOMAS BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. FOR 
THE INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS AT EAST BRAINERD ROAD (SR-320) 
AND OOLTEWAH RINGGOLD ROAD (SR-321) FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $124,618.54. 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 608-31 was approved by this Legislative Body on June 

18, 2009 for Agreement No. 080076 with the Tennessee Department 
of Transportation for the intersection improvements at East Brainerd 
Road (SR-320) and Ooltewah Ringgold Road (SR-321); and, 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 815-31 was approved by this Legislative Body on August 

15, 2015 for the construction of East Brainerd Road (SR-320) and 
Ooltewah Ringgold Road (SR-321); and, 

 
WHEREAS, the existing construction contract needs to be increased to include 

$124,618.54 to cover changes in the original project scope required 
by TDOT; and, 

 
WHEREAS, all costs for the East Brainerd Road (SR-320) and Ooltewah Ringgold 

Road (SR-321) intersection improvements will be reimbursed by the 
Tennessee Department of Transportation per Agreement No. 080076. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor is authorized to increase the construction 
contract with Thomas Brothers Construction Company, Inc. for the 
intersection improvements at East Brainerd Road (SR-320) and 
Ooltewah Ringgold Road (SR-321) for an amount not to exceed 
$124,618.54, of which all costs will be reimbursed by Tennessee 
Department of Transportation. 
 

  



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1116-3 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE ECG 
CHESTNUT, L.P. PROJECT, TO DELEGATE CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO THE 
HEALTH, EDUCATION AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF 
CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD 
VALOREM TAXES. 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 7-53-305(b) Hamilton 

County, Tennessee (the “County”) is permitted to delegate to The 
Health, Education and Housing Facility Board of the City of 
Chattanooga, Tennessee (the "Board"), the authority to negotiate and 
accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from lessees of the Board 
upon a finding by the County that such payments are deemed to be in 
furtherance of the Board's public purposes; and, 

 
 

WHEREAS,  ECG Chestnut, L.P. (the "Company") is contemplating the acquisition 
of land located at 2108 Chestnut Street, Chattanooga, Hamilton County, 
Tennessee, and the construction, equipping, and furnishing of a 
multifamily, low income housing tax credit apartment project with 
approximately 174 one and two bedroom units (the “New Facility”); 
and, because of the substantial economic benefits to the City of 
Chattanooga and the County resulting from the project, has asked the 
Board and the Board of Commissioners of the County (the 
"Commission") to approve payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes; and 

 
 
WHEREAS,  the Commission has determined that payments in lieu of ad valorem 

taxes from such a project would be in furtherance of the Board's public 
purposes as set forth within Chapter 53 of Title 7 of the Tennessee Code 
Annotated. 

  



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  
 
 

That we do hereby find that the ECG Chestnut, L.P project referenced above is in the 
best interest of the County, and that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes derived 
therefrom would be in furtherance of the Board's public purpose; and that the Board is 
hereby delegated with the authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad 
valorem taxes from the Company, it being further noted that this delegation is for this 
purpose and this project only; and that the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter 
into an Agreement for Payments In Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes substantially in the 
form attached hereto, with such changes thereto as he shall approve. 
 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 



 
 

1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the ___ day of ________________, 

2017, by and among THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD 

OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); ECG CHESTNUT, L.P., a 

____________________ limited partnership (the “Company”); the CITY OF 

CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE (the “City”); and HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE (the 

“County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their acceptance of the agency 

relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and his successors, acting in the 

capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (“Trustee”), and by MARTY HAYNES and his 

successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY 

(“Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating the acquisition of land located at 2108 

Chestnut Street in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee, and the construction, equipping 

and furnishing of a multifamily, low income housing tax credit apartment project with 

approximately 174 one and two bedroom units (collectively, the “Project”), and has requested 

the Board’s assistance in the financing of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, substantial public welfare benefits to the City and County will be derived 

from the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to take title to certain real and personal property that 

constitutes the Project, as described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (the “Property”), which 

Property is to be owned by the Board and leased to the Company; and 



 
 

2 
 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 

corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, §48-101-301, et seq., 

all such property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally 

paid to the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 

provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, §48-101-312; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the Board 

has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the payment of 

property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in lieu of the 

property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more particularly 

set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in lieu of 

property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their duly 

elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 

authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the County Assessor as its agent to appraise 

the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Trustee and the City Treasurer, as 

applicable, as its agent to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 

agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 



 
 

3 
 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Board 

hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor 

shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State 

of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall give the 

Trustee, the City Treasurer, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 

appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 

property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 

to the appraisal and assessment of the Property. 

2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  

The Board hereby designates the Trustee as its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu 

Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to the 

City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this agreement, the 

Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if it were subject to 

property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and in 

accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year hereunder, the Trustee 

shall send the Board and the Company a bill for appropriate amounts of In Lieu Payments (the 

“Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay 

to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill to be paid to the County and the Company 

shall pay to the City Treasurer the amounts on the Tax Bill to be paid to the City in accordance 

with the amount set forth below in Section 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the 

Company in lieu of the property taxes which would otherwise be payable on the Property if it 

were subject to property taxes.   



 
 

4 
 

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.   

(a) Property Exclusive of Improvements.  For each of the years 2017 through 

2033 (the "Real Property Tax Abatement Period"), the Company shall make payments with 

respect to the Property in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all City and County 

annual ad valorem property taxes levied in the base year of 2016 (the “Base Year”) on the value 

of the land on which the Project will be constructed.  The intent is for the City and County to 

continue receiving throughout the term of this Agreement all taxes assessed as to the value of the 

property in the Base Year exclusive of the improvements made in connection with the Project, 

which improvements are subject to the payment in lieu of tax obligations set forth in subsection 

(b), immediately below. 

(b) Improvements.  After construction of the Project is completed and the 

Assessor of Property has reassessed the then improved Property, the Company shall make In 

Lieu Payments in the amount required to satisfy the Hamilton County Schools portion of the 

property taxes that would be due on the improvements to the Property if it were subject to 

taxation (the “School Portion”), which the parties acknowledge and agree currently equates to 

27.05% of the amount of the total City and County taxes that would have been payable on the 

improvements to the Property if it were subject to property taxes.  The parties further 

acknowledge that the percentage of the School's Portion will vary as City and County tax rates 

change.  Additional In Lieu Payments on the improvements will be as follows: 



 
 

5 
 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund(1) 

County General 
Fund(1) 

County School 
Fund(1) 

2019 – 2028 0% 0% 100% 
2029 20% 20% 100% 
2030 40% 40% 100% 
2031 60%  60%  100% 
2032 80%  80%  100% 
2033 100%  100%  100% 

 
(1) – The above percentages refer to the percent of the amount of taxes that would have 

been payable on the improvements to the Property if it were subject to property taxes. 

As noted above, during such years 2019 to 2033 (the "Improvements Tax Abatement 

Period"; the Improvements Tax Abatement and the Real Property Tax Abatement Period 

collectively called the "Tax Abatement Period"), the Company shall continue to pay the School 

Portion attributable to the Hamilton County Schools.  For any periods before or after the Tax 

Abatement Period that the Property is owned by the Board, the Company shall make In Lieu 

Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor and the Trustee, equal to one hundred 

percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were 

subject to property taxes. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges; Affordability Requirement.  The Company shall 

make the In Lieu Payments for each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu 

Payments to the City and County shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest 

charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, then a late 

charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be 

in the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each month that 

each payment has been unpaid.  Such one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month late charge 



 
 

6 
 

amount shall accumulate each month and be payable so long as there remains any outstanding 

unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as 

provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit in the Chancery 

Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late charges, expenses 

and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees, and if the Company should fail 

to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove for more than two (2) years, the 

City or the County may, as to their respective In Lieu Payments, terminate the benefits of this 

Agreement and thereafter require the Company to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the 

amount of taxes that would have been payable on the Property for so long as such payment 

default continues as determined by the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County.  In the 

event of a disagreement between the parties concerning whether or not the Company has cured a 

default, a representative of the Company may request that the City and County, as applicable, 

each meet to determine whether such default has been cured, and the Company and the City or 

the County, as the case may be, shall meet promptly thereafter attempt in good faith to resolve 

such dispute.  The Company may, in addition, file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton 

County to ask that the provisions of this Agreement be construed or applied to the relevant facts 

by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such dispute. 

(c) The Company covenants as follows: 

(i) The Project will be completed within twenty-four (24) months 

following the date of this Agreement. 

(ii) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement 

Period,  100% of the dwelling units in the Project will be set aside for occupancy by households 



 
 

7 
 

whose income is not greater than 60% of the area median income as annually defined in the most 

recent guidelines published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (the 

"Affordability  Requirement"). 

(iii) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement 

Period, the Project shall be maintained in habitable condition and in compliance with all 

applicable City and County ordinances and codes. 

(d) If the Company should fail to meet the Affordability Requirement 

under Section 5(c)(ii) above with respect to the Project and such failure continues for a period of 

more than one hundred eighty (180) days following receipt by the Company of written notice 

from the City or the County specifying such failure in reasonable detail (an "Affordability Event 

of Default"), the City and the County may then require the Company to pay an amount 

determined by multiplying the In Lieu Payments on the Property owed pursuant to Section 4 

during the period of the continuance of such Affordability Event of Default by a fraction 

(expressed as a percentage),  the denominator of which is the number of dwelling units at the 

Project subject to the Affordability Requirement and the numerator of which is the number of 

dwelling units that are not occupied by or available for occupancy by households whose income 

is not greater than 60% of the area median income as annually defined in the most recent 

guidelines published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development.  The County and 

the City shall look solely to the Company for any repayment obligations. 

6. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the Treasurer 

pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general 

funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the normal 

requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 



 
 

8 
 

municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the 

County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 

paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 

paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 

shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 

Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for 

the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In 

Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and 

the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount 

to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed 

to the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the 

County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 

for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 

that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 

the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated §48-101-302. 

7. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the 

appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of 

the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 

then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  Likewise, if the Company 

contests any such computation, it shall present evidence to the Trustee in favor of its position.  If 

the In Lieu Payments being contested shall be or become due and payable, the Company shall 

make such payments under protest. The Company and the Assessor or the Trustee, as the case 

may be, shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or 



 
 

9 
 

computation.  If the Company and the Assessor or the Trustee are unable to resolve a dispute, 

then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 

provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 

be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 

dispute. 

8. Annual Report.  The Company will provide, on or before February 15 of each 

calendar year during this Agreement following the date the Project is placed in service, (i) a copy 

of the Owner's Annual Certification of Compliance that the Company has provided to the 

Tennessee Housing Development Agency for the prior calendar year, and (ii) a certification of 

the Company as to the Company's compliance with the covenants set forth in Section 5(c).  An 

independent audit of these certifications may occur if requested by the City or County during any 

calendar year of this Agreement. 

9. Lien on Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement 

shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the 

event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with this Agreement. 

10. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains 

title to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property 

or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

11. Leasehold Taxation.  If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to 

ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In 

Lieu Payments due hereunder.  The Company agrees to cooperate fully with the Assessor in 

supplying information for completion of leasehold taxation questionnaires with respect to the 

Property. 



 
 

10 
 

12. Stormwater Fees.  In addition to other requirements under this Agreement, the 

Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City of Chattanooga 

against the Real Property. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall 

be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile 

transmission or delivered, if to the City or the Board, c/o Mr. Phillip A. Noblett, Suite 200, 100 

E. 11th Street, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; if to the County, c/o Mr. Rheubin M. Taylor, 

County Attorney, Hamilton County Government, Room 204, County Courthouse, Chattanooga, 

Tennessee 37402-1956; if to the Company, c/o Mr. Hunter Nelson, ECG Chestnut, L.P., 118 

16th Avenue South, Suite 200, Nashville, Tennessee 37203; if to the Trustee, at his address at 

Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; and if to the Assessor, at his 

address at Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; or, as to each party, at 

such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other party.  All 

such notices and communications, when sent by U.S. certified mail, return receipt requested, 

shall be effective three days after sending, or when sent by overnight courier or personal 

delivery, shall be effective upon delivery, or when sent by facsimile transmission, confirmed 

electronically, shall be effective when sent, in each case addressed as aforesaid. 

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in 

exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single 

or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise 

thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 

cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 



 
 

11 
 

15. Assignment.  Except in the event of the conveyance of the Property as a result of 

a foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure or except as otherwise provided in this Section, the 

Company may only assign this Agreement, or any part hereof, with the prior consent of the 

Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County, and the Board.  The Mayor of the City, the Mayor 

of the County and/or the Board shall not withhold such consent upon the occurrence of all of the 

following conditions: (i) there is no default under this Agreement at the time of the assignment, 

(ii) all requirements of the Company under this Agreement have been satisfied as of the date of 

the assignment, and (iii) any assignee agrees to provide proof of sufficient assets to fund the 

business plan for the Project and agrees to be bound by the terms of this Agreement from and 

after the date of assignment (the “Consent Requirements”).  If the Company provides the Mayor 

of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Board (x) a certificate of an officer of the Company 

certifying that the requirements of (i) and (ii) have been satisfied and (y) proof of sufficient 

assets to fund the business plan for the Project and a copy of an assignment and assumption 

agreement pursuant to which the assignee agrees to be bound by the terms of this Agreement, the 

Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Board shall each have the option, upon at 

least seven (7) days’ prior notice to the Company, to meet with a representative of the Company 

within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the Company’s certificate for purposes of determining 

whether the Company has satisfied the Consent Requirements.  Unless the Mayor of the City, the 

Mayor of the County and the Board meet with the Company and all state in writing within such 

forty-five (45) day period that the Company has not satisfied the Consent Requirements, the 

Company may assign this Agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions described in 

the Company’s certificate without any further action of the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the 

County and/or the Board.  In the event that the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and 



 
 

12 
 

the Board timely state in writing that the Company has not satisfied the Consent Requirements, 

the Company and the assignee may, upon the Company’s request, appear before the City Council 

of the City, the Board of Commissioners of the County and the Board to request approval of such 

assignment pursuant to the terms of this Section, which consents shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  Upon satisfaction of the requirements of this Section, the assignment shall relieve the 

Company from liability for any of its obligations hereunder as of the effective date of the 

assignment. 

16. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be 

held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall 

not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

17. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, 

covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, 

member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, either directly 

or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or 

in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, member, 

director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and 

consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

18. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 

each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns. 

19. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 



 
 

13 
 

20. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each 

of the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in 

amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 
 

14 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 

and date first above written. 

 

ATTEST: 

By:       
 Secretary 

THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND HOUSING 
FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF 
CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 Chairman 
 
 
ECG CHESTNUT, L.P. 
 
By: ECG Chestnut GP, LLC, its sole general partner 
 
By:        
Title:        
 
 
CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 
HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
By:        
 Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
MARTY HAYNES 
 
By:        
 Hamilton County Assessor of 
 Property 
 

  



 
 

15 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

 
REAL PROPERTY 

 
[INSERT LEGAL DESCRIPTION] 

 
 

PERSONAL PROPERTY 
 
All personal property used by the Company in connection with its housing facility located on the 
real property described above. 
 
 



No. 1116-5 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A STATE OF TENNESSEE, GOVERNOR’S HIGHWAY 
SAFETY OFFICE GRANT FOR THE “REMOVE INTOXICATED AND IMPAIRED 
DRIVERS” PROJECT WITH A TERM ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 AND AMENDING 
THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE OPERATING BUDGET BY ADDING $76,000 TO REVENUES 
AND EXPENDITURES. 
 
WHEREAS, the Governor’s Highway Safety Office has awarded the Sheriff’s Office a grant, 
via federal funding, with a project titled “Remove Intoxicated and Impaired Drivers”, in the 
amount of $76,000; and, 
 
WHEREAS, these grant funds will be used on overtime for saturation patrols on roadways to 
identify and cite “Driving Under the Influence (DUI) and Impaired Drivers” offenders; and, 
 
WHEREAS, this project will commence immediately and will have an ending date of 
September 30, 2017; and, 
 
WHEREAS, funding for this grant will be used to pay for overtime and related benefits and 
supplies; and 
  
WHEREAS, no local match is required by Hamilton County, nor the Sheriff’s Office. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A STATE OF TENNESSEE, GOVERNOR’S HIGHWAY SAFETY 
OFFICE GRANT FOR THE “REMOVE INTOXICATED AND IMPAIRED DRIVERS” PROJECT 
WITH A TERM ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 AND AMENDING THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE 
OPERATING BUDGET BY ADDING $76,000 TO REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLICE WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-6 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE GRANT AND TO 
AMEND THE SHERIFF’S OPERATING BUDGET BY INCREASING REVENUES AND 
EXPENDITURES BY $17,450.  PURSUANT TO THE GRANT TERMS, THE FUNDS MAY BE 
USED FOR CORRECTION PURPOSES ONLY.  
 
WHEREAS, Section 241 (i) of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act provided for a 
program to provide assistance to states and local governments that are incurring costs due to 
the incarceration of undocumented criminal aliens; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sheriff’s Office applied for grant funds under the resulting State Criminal 
Alien Assistance Program (SCAAP);  
 
WHEREAS, the Sheriff’s Office application for funding has been approved in the amount of 
$17,450; and 
 
WHEREAS, these grant funds will be used for “correctional purposes only”; and 
 
WHEREAS, no matching funds are required. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
Hamilton County hereby accepts the U.S. Department of Justice Grant, and the Sheriff’s Office 
Operating Budget is amended by adding $17,450, to the revenues and expenditures. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-7 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION OF CANINE EQUIPMENT AND 
ASSOCIATED SUPPLIES AND TRAINING FROM THE CHATTANOOGA DOG AGILITY 
CLUB TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE VALUED AT 
APPROXIMENTLY $4,896 FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT PURPOSES. 
 
WHEREAS, donated supplies range valued at $3,421 from harnesses to leashes to collars and 
other items which would be beneficial to assisting the Sheriff’s K-9 personnel; and 
 
WHEREAS, registration fees of $295 per officer have been secured for five officers to attend 
training valued at $1,475 for K-9 personnel; and 
 
WHEREAS, the canine division of the Sheriff’s Office has been proven to be a valuable asset 
in the prevention and protection against criminal activity within the community. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
To recognize the Chattanooga Dog Agility Club upon their donation of stated equipment, 
supplies and paid training to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office.   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-8 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION OF A 40MM SINGLE SHOT LAUNCHER 
WITH AN ESTIMATED RETAIL VALUE OF $975 FROM THE AMTECH LESS-LETHAL 
SYSTEMS TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE. 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County recognizes the importance of properly equipping officers in 
carrying out their task to keep local citizens safe against criminal activity within the 
community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the retail value of such equipment is estimated at $975; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sheriff’s Office of Hamilton County will pay nothing, nor promise any favors 
in consideration of this donation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
To accept the donation of the 40MM Single Shot Launcher from Amtec Less-Lethal Systems with an 
estimated retail value of $975 to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-9 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO AMEND THE 2016 - 2017 BUDGET FOR 
THE JUSTICE FOR FAMILIES GRANT, FROM THE OFFICE ON VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN (OVW).  
THE TWO YEAR GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $250,000.00 WITH THE GRANT PERIOD OF APRIL 1, 
2015 TO MARCH 31, 2017 HAS A REMAINING BALANCE OF $64,370.00.00  THE FY2017 BUDGETED 
AMOUNT OF $125,000.00 FOR REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES SHOULD BE REDUCED TO 
$64,370.00 TO REFLECT THE CURRENT FUNDS AVAILABLE FOR FY2017. 
 
WHEREAS,  Hamilton County is committed to improving the safety of victims of domestic  

violence and their children; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to the Justice for Families Program, OVW seeks to continue its 

contractual agreement with Hamilton County for Supervised Visitation and Exchange 
services as prescribed by the Violence Against Women Act for persons who meet the 
eligibility requirements; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the County subcontracts with Partnership for Families, Children, and Adults Inc. 

to provide supervised visitation and exchange services; and,  
 
WHEREAS,  the grant is budgeted in the Community Services Department of the Health  
   Department. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
   That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to amend the Justice for Families  
   budget for the FY2017 from $125,000.00 to $64,370.00 to reflect the current  
   amount of funds available for the remainder of the FY2017. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-10 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTRACT  WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT 
OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $492,400.00 TO PROVIDE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED DISEASE 
AND HIV EDUCATION, PREVENTION AND CONTROL SERVICES  IN HAMILTON COUNTY,  FOR A 
TIME PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2017 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2017.    
 
WHEREAS, sexually transmitted diseases, including HIV continue to be a public health threat in 

Hamilton County; and 
 
WHEREAS, appropriate and timely education, diagnosis, treatment and contact identification and 

treatment has been proven to be an effective means of controlling these diseases; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department provides this service to persons 

in Hamilton County; and  
 
WHEREAS,  the Tennessee Department of Health provides funding to support this service; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Health reduced required activity in this contract’s Scope 

of Service. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract in the amount of $492,400.00  for the 
provision of Sexually Transmitted Disease and HIV Education, Prevention and Control Services for the 
residents of Hamilton County for a time period of January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 































































































No. 1116-11 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF BROZELCO INC., SHIELDS ELECTRONICS 
SUPPLY, INC., AND TESSCO INCORPORATED FOR A ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT 
PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 3, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2, 2017, WITH THE 
OPTION TO RENEW FOR SIX (6) ADDITIONAL MONTHS, FOR COMMUNICATIONS CABLE 
FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract unit 

pricing, with the option to renew for six (6) additional months, for communications 
cable for the Telecommunications Department; and, 

   
WHEREAS, the bids from Brozelco Inc., Shields Electronics Supply, Inc., and Tessco 

Incorporated were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Brozelco Inc., Shields Electronics Supply, Inc., and Tessco Incorporated, for one (1) 
year contract unit pricing, beginning November 3, 2016, through November 2, 2017, with the option to 
renew for six (6) additional months for communications cable for the Telecommunications Department 
are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 





BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 1 

 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS CABLE BID SPECIFICATIONS 
  
Statement of Intent 

Hamilton County, TN, hereinafter referred to as “County,” is soliciting bids for unit pricing on 
communications cable.  The contract period will be one (1) year with the option to renew for 
one (1) additional six (6) month term.  All prices must remain fixed during this contract period. 
Cable will be purchased for educational and County General projects on multiple purchase 
orders throughout the term of the contract.  Be aware however that pricing will be allowed to 
decrease if general market pricing decreases. 
 
Throughout the terms of this contract,  

 annual item volumes/quantities are estimates only and are not guaranteed purchase 

amounts; 

 items will be ordered multiple times throughout the contract term as needed, based on 

business need and inventory storage space availability [a single order will not be placed 

for these items]; 

 no minimum order quantities will apply to this contract and overages [or charges for 

overages] are not allowed; 

 the vendor(s) will be expected to guarantee delivery for the first order within 10 days  of 

the initial order; any subsequent order must be guaranteed to the County’s warehouse 

within 24 hours after receipt of any order; 

 all materials must be shipped F.O.B Chattanooga, TN  to the designated Hamilton 

County location; 

 any and all shipping, handling, freight or mileage charges must be incorporated into the 

unit pricing submitted and shall not be added as separate items added to invoices sent 

to Hamilton County for payment;  

 no additional charges will be allowed; and 

 prices will be guaranteed not to increase during the term of the contract [See paragraph 

on Substitution and Technology Refreshment below]. 

 
Quantities 

The cable being bid will be used for various projects for Hamilton County during the term of the 
contract. The quantities listed for each item are estimated based on defined projects at the time 
this bid is being released.  Additional projects may increase the quantities needed throughout 
the contract period.  Hamilton County reserves the right to adjust the quantities of specific 
items based on the unit prices at any time during the contract.  
 
Minimum order quantities must be included as part of the bid package. Hamilton County will 
not adjust order quantities to qualify vendor for reduced shipping costs. 
 



BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 2 

 

 

Specific details regarding estimated annual volumes are included on the attached 
Communications Cable Pricing Form.  Please note that the quantity listed is an estimate only and 
Hamilton County reserves the right to adjust the quantities up or down based on business needs 
throughout the term of the contract.   
 
Pricing 

Prices quoted shall be firm for the initial term of the contract and no cost increases shall be 
accepted in this initial contract term.   Future pricing adjustments will be considered at the time 
of renewal at the sole discretion of the County. Any requested adjustment shall be fully 
documented with a justification, and submitted to the County at least ninety (90) days prior to 
the contract anniversary date.   

 
Note that these are not automatic renewals.  It will be the responsibility of both parties to notify 
the other party in writing no less than ninety (90) days before the expiration of the contract 
period if the contract is not to be extended for each additional term. 
 
Substitution and Technology Refreshment  

If at any time during the life of this agreement, the original manufacturer of the equipment 
(includes software, hardware and firmware) schedules the products for discontinuation, 
improvement and/or replacement, the agreement holder shall provide a proposal to include the 
new or revised products on this agreement.  Proposed prices for new or revised products shall 
be constructed for most favored prices.  Discounts shall be at the same or greater discount 
level as the original agreement product prices.  Proposals shall be submitted to the Contracting 
Officer within seven (7) days of the agreement holder’s awareness of the OEM’s 
intent.  Improvement of product includes new releases, updates, upgrades including additional 
features/functionality, and successor or upgrade products. 

 
Shipping 

All material must be shipped prepaid to the designated County warehouse facility for storage 
and/or distribution. All shipping and freight charges are the responsibility of the vendor and 
shall not be added to invoices sent to Hamilton County for payment.  
 
Guaranteed Delivery 

Hamilton County will place multiple orders for various items based on the needs and schedule of 
a particular project. Vendors will be given a ten-day period from the award of the bid before 
delivery of the first order of materials. After the initial ten-day period, delivery must be 
guaranteed to the County’s warehouse facility within 24 hours after subsequent orders are 
placed. 
 
Vendors who cannot guarantee this delivery schedule must submit a written exception to this 
section with an optional delivery schedule. Failure to meet guaranteed delivery schedules may 
result in cancellation of this contract and the remainder of the materials ordered will go to the 
vendor submitting the second best bid. 
 



BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 3 

 

 

Vendors must furnish Hamilton County with an emergency contact name and number if 
materials are required after hours in order to meet construction deadlines. 
 
Warranty 

The manufacturer must provide a warranty on all cable for a minimum of two years. Failure to 
identify any limitations or special conditions may be reason to reject a bid or cancel the contract 
after the bid is awarded. Hamilton County will hold the successful vendor responsible for the 
replacement of any defective cable for the two-year period following the delivery of the cable at 
no cost to the County. 
 
Manufacturers that place conditions upon extended warranties based on the installation 
method used by any contractor working on a Hamilton County project must agree to do an on-
site inspection prior to completion of the project. 
 
Manufacturers that place conditions upon extended warranties based on required training and 
certification of the technicians doing the installation must submit a proposal to provide the 
required training. Cable installation will be performed by both outside contractors and the 
County’s in-house technicians. Proposals for required training must include specific locations, 
time schedules, and associated costs. 
 
Hamilton County will require a specified warranty period from all outside contractors regarding 
the workmanship and testing of all installed cable.   
 
Hamilton County expects to place multiple orders based on the pricing included in the accepted 
bid package. Only the specific amounts ordered and received, per purchase order, should be 
invoiced by the vendor.  Payment will be made upon receipt of the invoice for each individual 
order. 
 
Payment 

Hamilton County expects to place multiple orders based on the pricing included in the accepted 
bid package.  Only the specific amounts ordered, per purchase order, should be invoiced by the 
vendor.  Vendors may submit invoices for payment only on items that have been received by 
Hamilton County.  Payment will be made upon receipt of the invoice for each individual order.   
 
Contract Termination 

The Contract may be terminated by either party by giving written notice to the other at least 
thirty (30) days before the effective date of termination. 
 
Award of Bid 

While Hamilton County prefers to issue this contract to a single vendor, we reserve the right to 
award the bid to multiple vendors or the entire package to a single vendor who may be deemed 
to have submitted the best overall bid package, in the best interest of the County.   
 
Hamilton County reserves the right to waive any irregularities or reject any or all bids.   
  



BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 4 

 

 

BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response 
document in a sealed envelope before 10:30 a.m. (ET) on September 23, 2016 to the Hamilton 
County Purchasing Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the 
following statement “Bid# 0916-035: Communications Cable”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed 
within this envelope / package should also be clearly marked with the same label. 

 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not 
constitute receipt of a bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids 

must be received in the Purchasing Department by the specified deadline. 

 

DELIVERY ADDRESS FOR ALL PROPOSALS: 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
BID # 0916-035: Communications Cable from {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue  
Chattanooga, TN 37404 

 
 
COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID PRICING FORM   

Submit your bid as specified below on the attached Communications Cable Pricing Form.  All 
prices shall be displayed on a unit price basis. 
 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID SUBMISSION FORMS  

The attached Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms must be signed and 
submitted as a part of your bid submission package. 
 
CONTACTS 

Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to:  
Mike Beal, Telecommunications Manager 
MikeB@HamiltonTN.gov 
423-209-6220 (Office) 

 
Questions concerning bid procedures should be directed to the Purchasing Department:  

Janie Burley, Senior Buyer 
JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov 
423-209-6350 (Office) 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions

mailto:MikeB@HamiltonTN.gov
mailto:JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov


BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 5 

 

 

CABLE SPECIFICATIONS 

 
Hamilton County reserves the right to accept only cable from the manufacturer listed to 
standardize the cable used during this contract period.  For items one (1) and two (2) in pricing 
form, all cable to be Belden IBDN 3612 or 3613 only:  NO ALTERNATES ACCEPTED.   
 
After evaluation of all sections of this bid document, including warranty, shipping, and the 
general bid requirements, the unit prices will be used in determining the best overall bid 
package.   
 
In order to receive the best price available for the specified items, estimated quantities have 
been provided. Hamilton County feels that these estimated quantities are reasonable based on 
the design of new construction projects and the cabling of other existing buildings scheduled 
within the next twelve months. However, quantities are not guaranteed and may increase or 
decrease during the term of the contract.    
 
The attached Communications Cable Pricing Form MUST BE USED to submit unit pricing. 
 
ALL BIDS MUST BE CLEARLY LEGIBLE AND BASED ON THE UNIT SIZE/AMOUNT INDICATED.  
Failure to provide an easy to interpret bid will be reason to disqualify the bid package. 
 
 

1. The estimated quantities reflect the amount we anticipate needing. 

2. Fiber must be in 1,000 foot reel boxes, numerically numbered for footage with start and 
end labeled 0 TO 1,000. 

3. Each vendor is responsible for providing the correct part number for each item listed.  If 
the part number on the attached form is incorrect, please correct the form and attach 
the manufacturer’s spec sheet with the correct information. 

4. All estimated quantities on worksheet are given in feet. 
 

 



BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 6 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS CABLE PRICING FORM 
 

Note:  FOR ITEMS 1 & 2 - All cable to be Belden IBDN 3612 or 3613 only 
NO ALTERNATES ACCEPTED. 

 
 

ITEM 
Estimated 
Quantity 

Description Manufacturer Price Per Foot 

1 50,000 Cat 6eX Riser Cable, Green, Belden 3612    

2 50,000 Cat 6eX Plenum Cable, White, Belden 3613    

3 1000 6 pair / 24awg Direct Buried Cable    

4 5000 Cat 3 25 Pair / 24awg Riser Rated Cable    

5 2000 Cat 3 25 Pair / 24awg Plenum Rated Cable    

6 2000 Cat 3 50 Pair / 24awg Riser Rated Cable    

7 2000 Cat 3 50 Pair / 24awg Plenum Rated Cable    

8 5000 RG 6 Quad Shield Riser Rated Coax Cable CommScope or equal    

9 5000 RG 6 Quad Shield Plenum Rated Coax Cable CommScope or equal    

10 2000 RG11/U Riser Rated Coax Cable CommScope or equal    

11 2000 RG11/U Plenum Rated Coax Cable CommScope or equal    

12 5000 22/6 Shielded Riser Rated, Stranded Cable    

13 5000 18/2 Riser Rated, Stranded Cable    

14 5000 2 Pair / 22awg Stranded Plenum Rated Cable with 1 Pair Shielded     

15 5000 2 Pair / 22awg Stranded Riser Rated Cable with 1 Pair Shielded     

   
 

   
 

  Clearly indicate manufacturer bid on all items. 
 

  

 
 

 
Submitted by Company Name: _____________________________________________________    
     Print Name 
  
Contact Name:     _____________________________________________________ 
     Print Name 
 
Authorized Signature:  ______________________________________________________    
     Sign and Print Name 
 
Contact Phone:     ______________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Email Address:   ______________________________________________________  



BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 7 

 

 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this 
document is true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT 
tainted by any collusion.  I certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the 
release of this proposal for Hamilton County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind 
my company to the responses and pricing in these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent 
negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________   
Date  

 

 

 
 



BID # 0916-035:  Communications Cable   
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  
 
 P a g e  | 8 

 

 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make 
certification and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance 
with all provisions of this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by 
the federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by 
the federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the 
list created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, 
without collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or 
official of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting 
as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder 
in connection with the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

 Date:    _____________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Communications Cable Bid Telecommunications

Friday September 23, 2016 10.30 AM

ITEM
Estimated 

Quantity
Description Manufacturer

Price Per 

Foot
Manufacturer

Price Per 

Foot
Manufacturer

Price Per 

Foot

1 50,000 Cat 6eX Riser Cable, Green, Belden 3612 Belden 0.34$       Belden  $       0.163 Belden  $   0.26182 

2 50,000
Cat 6eX Plenum Cable, White, Belden 

3613
Belden 0.68$       Belden  $       0.278 Belden  $   0.53280 

3 1000 6 pair / 24awg Direct Buried Cable Superior Essex 0.41$       _ NB Belden  $   2.51369 

4 5000 Cat 3 25 Pair / 24awg Riser Rated Cable Lapp USA 0.08$       _ NB Belden  $   0.85507 

5 2000 Cat 3 25 Pair / 24awg Plenum Rated Cable Lapp USA 0.42$       _ NB Belden  $   1.18661 

6 2000 Cat 3 50 Pair / 24awg Riser Rated Cable Lapp USA 0.20$       _ NB Belden  $   1.79275 

7 2000 Cat 3 50 Pair / 24awg Plenum Rated Cable Lapp USA 1.25$       _ NB Belden  $         2.36 

8 5000
RG 6 Quad Shield Riser Rated Coax Cable

CommScope or equal
Lapp USA 0.13$       _  $       0.099 Belden  $   0.12645 

9 5000
RG 6 Quad Shield Plenum Rated Coax

Cable CommScope or equal
Lapp USA 0.11$       _  $       0.312 Belden  $   0.85349 

10 2000
RG11/U Riser Rated Coax Cable

CommScope or equal
Lapp USA 0.12$       Belden  $       0.185 Belden  $   0.17266 

11 2000
RG11/U Plenum Rated Coax Cable

CommScope or equal
Lapp USA  $       0.62 _  NB Belden  $   1.61918 

12 5000 22/6 Shielded Riser Rated, Stranded Cable Lapp USA  $       0.92 Belden  $       0.150 Belden  $   0.14114 

13 5000 18/2 Riser Rated, Stranded Cable Lapp USA  $       1.32 Belden  $       0.099 Belden  $   0.23674 

Brozelco Inc.
Shields Electronics Supply 

Inc.
Tessco Incorporated



ITEM
Estimated 

Quantity
Description Manufacturer

Price Per 

Foot
Manufacturer

Price Per 

Foot
Manufacturer

Price Per 

Foot

14 5000
2 Pair / 22awg Stranded Plenum Rated

Cable with 1 Pair Shielded 
Lapp USA  $       1.95 Belden  $       0.181 Belden  $   0.26804 

15 5000
2 Pair / 22awg Stranded Riser Rated Cable

with 1 Pair Shielded 

Advanced 

Digital Cable
 $       0.10 Belden  $       0.101 Belden  $   0.24126 

Request for Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 9/12/2016

Vendor Notification: 641

Vendor Response: 3

Budgeted:

Capital, 

Operating & 

Bond



No. 1116-12 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF DATACOMM CABLING, LLC, INTEGRATED 
NETWORKING TECHNOLOGIES, LLC, AND PEARLNET LLC, FOR A ONE (1) YEAR 
CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 3, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2, 
2017, FOR HOURLY LABOR RATES FOR A TELECOMMUNICATIONS TECHNICIAN FOR 
THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 
TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for a one (1) year contract 

unit pricing, for hourly labor rates for a Telecommunications Technician cable for 
the Telecommunications Department; and, 

   
WHEREAS, the bids from DataComm Cabling LLC, Integrated Networking Technologies LLC, 

and Pearlnet LLC, were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of DataComm Cabling LLC, Integrated Networking Technologies LLC, and Pearlnet 
LLC, for one (1) year contract unit pricing, beginning November 3, 2016, through November 2, 2017, 
for hourly labor rates for a Telecommunications Technician for the Telecommunications Department 
are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 





























Telecommunications Technician Hourly Labor Rate Telecommunications

Tuesday, October 11, 2016 10:30 AM

VENDOR

Integrated 

Networking 

Technologies (HC)

DataComm 

Cabling, LLC
Pearlnet, LLC

Hourly Labor Rate $38.50 $45.00 $67.50

Terms Net 30 Net 30 Net 30

Request for Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 9/27/2016

Vendor Notification: 1200

Vendor Response: 3

Budgeted:
Capital, Operating & 

Bond



No. 1116-13 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 2, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF SEPTEMBER 1, 2016, THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE 
THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between September 1, 2016, through September 

30, 2016.  
 
 September 7, 2016, $1,655.00 for 1,000 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.6550 

per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 September 13, 2016, $10,255.89 for 7,413 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.3835 per gallon 

from Sweetwater Valley Oil Company.  
 
 September 14, 2016, $1,260.00 for 700 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.8000 

per gallon from Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 September 21, 2016, $13,496.41 for 7,335 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.8400 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 September 27, 2016, $14,442.48 for 8,354 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.72881 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 September 27, 2016, $382.38 for 160 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.3899 

per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 September 27, 2016, $481.58 for 242 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.9900 per gallon from 

Jat Ol and Supply, Inc.  
 
 September 28, 2016, $14,113.37 for 8,356 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.68901 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 



 

 

 
 September 29, 2016, $4,030.00 for 2,000 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 

2.0150 from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
 September 29, 2016,  $11,860.48 for 7,232 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.6400 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
 September 30, 2016, $1,580.06 for 794 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.9900 

per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
   
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 2, 2016 

  
Date 

 






	11-2-16 Public Agenda 
	1116-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - October 12, 2016 _2621_10-12-16 Recessed
	1116-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - October 12, 2016 _2622_10-12-16 Agenda
	STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session

	1116-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - October 19, 2016_2623_10-19-16 Regular
	1116-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report September 2016_2603_September 2016 Monthly
	1116-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report September 2016_2604_September 2016 Excess Fee
	1116-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Clerks Report July and August 2016_2617_Juvenile Court Clerks Report July and August 2016
	1116-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2620_11-02-16
	1116-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2620_11-02-16A
	1116-2_R_Todd Leamon_Intersection Improvements at East Brainerd Road (SR320) and Ooltewah Ringgold Road (SR321)_2605_thomasbrothers_EastBrainerd_OoltewahRinggoldRoad
	1116-2_S_Todd Leamon_Intersection Improvements at East Brainerd Road (SR320) and Ooltewah Ringgold Road (SR321)_2605_ThomasBrothersSupportDocument
	1116-3_R_Rheubin Taylor_ECG Chestnut LP Pilot Agreement_2626_ECG Chestnut LP PILOt Agreement Resolution
	1116-3_S_Rheubin Taylor_ECG Chestnut LP Pilot Agreement_2626_ELMINGTON CHESTNUT FLAT PILOT AGREEMENT
	1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and ...
	2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board hereby designates the Trustee as its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payme...
	3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill to be paid to the County and the Company shall pay to the City Treasurer the amounts on the Tax Bill to be paid to...
	4. Amount of Payments by the Company.
	(a) Property Exclusive of Improvements.  For each of the years 2017 through 2033 (the "Real Property Tax Abatement Period"), the Company shall make payments with respect to the Property in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all City and ...
	(b) Improvements.  After construction of the Project is completed and the Assessor of Property has reassessed the then improved Property, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in the amount required to satisfy the Hamilton County Schools portion of ...

	5. Penalties and Late Charges; Affordability Requirement.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments to the City and County shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees a...
	(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, then a late charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late charges, e...
	(c) The Company covenants as follows:
	(i) The Project will be completed within twenty-four (24) months following the date of this Agreement.
	(ii) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period,  100% of the dwelling units in the Project will be set aside for occupancy by households whose income is not greater than 60% of the area median income as annually defined in th...
	(iii) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period, the Project shall be maintained in habitable condition and in compliance with all applicable City and County ordinances and codes.
	(d) If the Company should fail to meet the Affordability Requirement under Section 5(c)(ii) above with respect to the Project and such failure continues for a period of more than one hundred eighty (180) days following receipt by the Company of writte...

	6. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance w...
	7. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or...
	8. Annual Report.  The Company will provide, on or before February 15 of each calendar year during this Agreement following the date the Project is placed in service, (i) a copy of the Owner's Annual Certification of Compliance that the Company has pr...
	9. Lien on Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance wit...
	10. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains title to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever...
	11. Leasehold Taxation.  If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due hereunder.  The Company agrees to cooperate fully...
	12. Stormwater Fees.  In addition to other requirements under this Agreement, the Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City of Chattanooga against the Real Property.
	13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered, if to the City or the Board, c/o Mr. Phillip A. N...
	14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any ...
	15. Assignment.  Except in the event of the conveyance of the Property as a result of a foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure or except as otherwise provided in this Section, the Company may only assign this Agreement, or any part hereof, with th...
	16. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	17. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or futu...
	18. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	19. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	20. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder.

	1116-5_R_Sheriff Hammond_RIID Grant Approval_2614_RIID
	1116-6_R_Sheriff Hammond_SCAAP grant approval_2615_SCAAP
	1116-7_R_Sheriff Hammond_Acceptance of Canine Equipment_2618_Resolution Canine Division 11-2-16
	1116-8_R_Sheriff Hammond_Firearm Donation_2619_Resolution Firearm Donation 11-2-16
	1116-9_R_Becky Barnes_Community Assistance Services_2612_Resolution Amendment Comm. Assist. Services Justice for Families 2017 final
	1116-10_R_Becky Barnes_STDHIV Prevention and Care Services_2616_2017 Resolution HIV STD.doc
	1116-10_S_Becky Barnes_STD HIV Prevention and Care Services_2616_2017 Annual STD HIV
	1116-11_R_Albert Kiser_Communications Cable Contract_2601_Resolution Comm Cable 2016
	1116-11_S_Albert Kiser_Communications Cable Contract_2601_Supp Docs Comm Cable Contract
	1116-12_R_Albert Kiser_Telecommunications Technician Hourly Labor Rates_2602_RES Telecom Technician 2016
	1116-12_S_Albert Kiser_Telecommunications Technician Hourly Labor Rates_2602_Supp Docs Telecom Tech
	1116-13_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel September 2016_2613_Fuel Resolution September 2016
	1116-13_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel September 2016_2613_SEPTEMBER 2016 FUEL

